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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING
COMMISSION,

)
)
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)

)
MICHAEL A. MEISNER AND )
PHOENIX DIVERSIFIED INVESTMENT )
CORPORA nON, INC., )

)

)
)

)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff,
v.

Defendants,
and

VICTORIA R. MEISNER,

Relief Defendant.

CIVIL ACTION NO:

08-81044
CIV-RYSKAMP
MAGISTTE .JE

VITUNAC

COMPLAINT FOR PERMANENT INJUNCTION, CIVIL PENALTIES AND
OTHER EQUITABLE RELIEF

Plaintiff, U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission ("Commission" or

"CFTC"), by and through its attorneys alleges as follows:

I. SUMMARY

1. Since at least May 2003 through the present (the "relevant time"), Michael

A. Meisner ("Meisner") and Phoenix Diversified Investment Corporation ("Phoenix") of

Boca Raton, Florida (collectively, "Defendants") have fraudulently solicited, accepted

and pooled at least $8 millon from at least 26 investors ("paricipants") for investment in

what they represented was a profitable $30 to $40 milion investment company named

Phoenix with between 150 and 200 pool paricipants. The Defendants pooled and
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transferred pool paricipant funds into commodity trading accounts at three futures

commission merchants ("FCMs"). On April 21, 2008, Phoenix shuttered its doors

without waring. On April 22, 2008, Meisner sent a letter to pool paricipants admitting

that Phoenix's trading accounts were depleted, Phoenix was "out of money" and could no

longer operate, and that he had misappropriated pool paricipant funds to support his

lifestyle.

2. Between May 2003 and April 2008, the Defendants solicited and accepted

at least $8 milion from at least 26 pool participants for the purpose of trading commodity

futures contracts, among other investments. During that time, Phoenix lost at least $5.8

milion in the Phoenix commodity futures trading accounts. Currently these accounts

car negligible or debit balances or have been closed. Durng the relevant time, Phoenix

acted as a commodity pool operator ("CPO") without the benefit of registration with the

Commission.

3. Meisner and Phoenix have cheated and defrauded prospective pool

participants and pool participants by misappropriating a portion of the Phoenix pool

paricipants' fuds for their personal use and benefit, making material misrepresentations

and failing to disclose material facts about the profitability and risk of their commodity

futures trading program. In addition, the Defendants distributed false account statements

to pool participants that misrepresented the value of the pool paricipants' interests in the

Phoenix commodity pool. The Defendants also concealed losses by using monies

received from "new" pool paricipants to repay "earlier" pool participants, in a maner

akin to a Ponzi scheme, while guaranteeing profits to new pool paricipants.
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4. Defendants thus have engaged in, are engaged in, or are about to engage in

acts and practices that violate anti-fraud and other provisions of the Commodity

Exchange Act, as amended (the "Act"), 7 U.S.C. §§ 1 et seq. (2006), and the

Commission's Regulations promulgated thereunder ("Regulations"), 17 C.F.R. § § 1.1 et

seq. (2008).

5. Meisner controlled Phoenix and knowingly induced, directly or indirectly,

or did not act in good faith regarding Phoenix's violations and, therefore, is liable for

Phoenix's violations of the Act and Regulations pursuant to Section 1 3 (b) of the Act, 7

U.S.C. § 13c(b). Phoenix is liable for the violations of the Act and Regulations of

Meisner, its agent, pursuant to Section 2(a)(l)(B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(I)(B), and

Regulation 1.2, 17 C.F.R. § 1.2.

6. Accordingly, the Commission brings this action pursuant to Section 6c of

the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-I, to enjoin Defendants' unlawful acts and practices and to

compel their compliance with the Act and Regulations. In addition, the Commission

seeks civil penalties, restitution to defrauded pool participants, disgorgement of il-gotten

gains, a permanent trading ban, and such other relief as the Court may deem necessar or

appropriate. The Commission also seeks disgorgement of ill-gotten gains by the relief

defendant, Victoria R. Meisner ("V. Meisner").

7. Unless restrained and enjoined by the Court, Defendants are likely to

continue to engage in the acts and practices alleged in this Complaint and similar acts and

practices, as more fully described below.
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II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

8. The Act establishes a comprehensive system for regulating trading in

commodity futures contracts, options on commodity futures contracts and commodity

options, and those who are registered or should be registered pursuant to the Act. This

Cour has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 6c of the Act, 7 U .S.C. § 13a-l,

which authorizes the Commission to seek injunctive relief against any person or entity

whenever it shall appear to the CFTC that such person or entity has engaged, is engaging,

or is about to engage in any act or practice constituting a violation of any provision of the

Act or any CFTC rule, regulation or order.

9. Venue properly lies with this Cour pursuant to Section 6c(e) of the Act,

7 U.S.C. § 13a-l(e), because the Defendants are found in, inhabit, or transact business in

this district and/or the acts and practices in violation of the Act and Regulations have

occurred, are occurrng, or are about to occur within this distrct, among other places.

III. THE PARTIES

A. Plaintiff

10. The Commodity Futures Trading Commission is an independent federal

regulatory agency that is charged with administering and enforcing the Act and

Regulations.

B. Defendants

11. Phoenix Diversified Investment Corporation is a Florida corporation

organzed in October 2001 with its principal place of business in Boca Raton, Florida.

Phoenix has never been registered in any capacity with the CFTC and has not applied for

any exemption from registration. On April 21, 2008, Phoenix closed its doors.
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12. Michael Alan Meisner currently resides at 2387 NW 49 Lane, Boca

Raton, Florida. Meisner formed Phoenix and was listed as its director and president from

its incorporation in October 2001 until March 2005, when his wife, V. Meisner, was

substituted as the president and director on Phoenix's corporate records. At all times

material to this action, Meisner directly or indirectly controlled Phoenix and its day-to-

day operations. Meisner was registered with the CFTC as an associated person ("AP") of

Diamond Head Capital, LLC ("Diamond Head"), a registered commodity trading advisor

("CT A"), from March 2005 until April 21, 2008, when his registration was withdrawn by

his sponsor. Meisner was the branch office manager of Diamond Head until April 2008.

13. On May 8, 2008, an involuntar petition for relief under Chapter 7 of the

U.S. Banptcy Code was fied against Phoenix in U.S. Banptcy Court for the

Southern District of Florida. On May 19,2008, Meisner fied a personal Chapter 11

banptcy in U.S. Banruptcy Court for the Southern District of Florida.

C. Relief Defendant

14. Victoria R. Meisner, Meisner's wife, currently resides at 2387 NW 49

Lane, Boca Raton, Florida. During the relevant time, V. Meisner was a director and

registered agent of Phoenix and an authorized signatory on Phoenix's ban accounts,

trading accounts and other material documents. V. Meisner has never been registered

with the Commission in any capacity. V. Meisner received funds in the amount of at

least $1 milion to which she was not entitled.

iv. STATUTORY AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

15. A "commodity pool" is defined in Regulation 4.1O(d)(l), 17 C.F.R.

§ 4.1O(d)(I), as any investment trust, syndicate or similar form of enterprise operated for
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the purose of trading commodity futures, options on commodity futures, and/or

commodity options.

16. A CPO is defined in Section la(5) of the Act, 7 U.S.c. § Ia(5), as any

person engaged in a business that is of the nature of an investment trust, syndicate, or

similar form of enterprise, and who in connection therewith, solicits, accepts, or receives

from others, funds, securities, or property, either directly or through capital contributions,

the sale of stock or other forms of securities, or otherwise, for the purpose of trading in

any commodity for future delivery on or subject to the rules of any contract market or

derivatives transaction execution facility.

17. An AP ofa CPO is defined in Regulation 1.3(aa)(3) as any person

associated with a CPO as a parner, officer, employee, consultant, or agent (or any natural

person occupying a similar status or performing similar functions), in any capacity which

involves (i) the solicitation of funds, securities, or property for a paricipation in a

commodity pool or (ii) the supervision of any person or persons so engaged.

18. A "paricipant" is defined in Regulation 4.1 O( c), 17 C.F .R. § 4.1 O( c), as

any person who has any direct financial interest in a commodity pooL.

19. A FCM is defined in Section 1 a(20) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § la(20), and

Regulation 1.3(p), 17 C.F.R. § 1.3(p), as an individual or organization that solicits or

accepts orders for the purchase or sale of commodity futues and accepts funds from

customers to support such orders.
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v. FACTS

The Defendants Made Material Misrepresentations and Failed to Disclose Material
Facts to Prospective Pool Participants and Pool Participants

20. In 2001, Meisner formed Phoenix as an investment company, ostensibly to

trade its own funds in proprietary trading accounts using trading systems developed by

Meisner. Two years later, Phoenix began to operate as a commodity pooL.

21. From around May 2003 to the present, the Defendants solicited funds from

members of the public for the puroses of pooling investments for trading commodity

futures, among other investments, though Phoenix (the "pool"). Other prospective pool

participants were solicited by Meisner's family members and possibly others.

22. Meisner represented to prospective pool paricipants that he was a highly

successful commodity trader who developed and used valuable trading software systems

that consistently resulted in profitable commodity futures trades.

23. During the relevant time, Meisner made oral misrepresentations and failed

to disclose material facts to pool paricipants and prospective pool participants regarding

the profitability of the Defendants' trading system and its past performance. Among

other things, Meisner represented to pool paricipants and some prospective pool

paricipants that the trading system resulted in profitable trades, which dominated losing

trades, and that the system resulted in profits of2% to 3% per month. At the same time,

he failed to disclose that Phoenix's trading accounts, on an overall basis, were losing

money.

24. Meisner told at least four pool paricipants that only 20% of their money

would be invested at a given time, and the remaining 80% of their money would be held
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in reserves as a "stop-loss" safeguard. In fact, the Defendants did not maintain such a

reserve.

25. Meisner provided to at least one prospective pool paricipant or pool

participant a performance table purorting to represent Phoenix's actual trading

performance for an investment of $1 00,000 for the period of March 2004 through July

2007. The performance table shows profitable "interest" results for every month but two.

The performance table is false in that it showed profits for months in which there were

overall losses.

26. By various means, the Defendants falsely represented to Phoenix pool

paricipants that their principal and profits were guaranteed, thereby implying that the

risk of loss was minimal in connection with Phoenix's trading accounts.

27. The Defendants falsely represented to pool participants and prospective

pool paricipants that their compensation would only come from profits derived from the

investments. This representation was false because in 2007 a Phoenix ledger shows that

Meisner received a "salar" of more than $1.3 milion and a bonus of$135,96l from

Phoenix. In fact, for the year 2007, the Phoenix trading accounts experienced net trading

losses of $306,921.78.

28. The Defendants structured the investment transactions on paper as

purported "loans" to Phoenix and provided pool paricipants with a one-page investment

account agreement ("agreement"). Not all of the agreements contained the same terms.

29. The Defendants offered no disclosure documents to pool paricipants or

prospective pool paricipants regarding the pooL. By failing to provide pool participants

or prospective pool paricipants with a disclosure document, the Defendants failed to
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disclose, among other things, the risks involved in trading commodity futues, the types

of commodity interests or other interests that the pool traded, the pool's actual

performance, and fees and expenses.

The Defendants' Trading Accounts

30. During the relevant time, Defendants opened or caused to be opened at

least twenty trading accounts in the name of Phoenix at MF Global Inc. ("Man"), at least

four trading accounts in the name of Phoenix at Rosenthal Collins Group, LLC ("RCG"),

and at least seven trading accounts in the name of Phoenix at RJ O'Brien ("RJO"). Man,

RCG and RJO are registered FCMs. Overall, between May 2003 and March 2008, the

Phoenix trading accounts suffered net losses of approximately $5.8 milion.

The Defendants Issued False Statements to the Pool Participants

31. During the relevant time, the Defendants provided monthly or quarerly

account statements to pool paricipants. The statements reported, among other things,

calculations of the principal amount owed to the pool paricipant at the beginning of the

reporting period, including prior accrued gains ("opening balance"), less withdrawals or

interest payments ("debits"), plus deposits ("credits"), plus pro rata trading profits or

losses ("interest"), equaling the principal balance at month end ("closing balance"), and

the purorted rate of return for the reporting period ("rate"). The account statements did

not contain trading results or disclose management fees or commissions paid to either the

Defendants or third paries.

32. The account statements provided to pool participants were false because

the Defendants' investments did not ear the profits or interest shown on the account

statements, and because the statements over-stated the net asset value of the pool
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paricipants' interests in the Pool. For example, at least twelve pool paricipants received

quarterly account statements, dated March 31, 2008, that cumulatively show a closing

balance of $4,264,784.05.

33. Between March 2008 and the present, the Defendants refused to comply

with at least ten pool paricipants' withdrawal requests, or tendered bad checks to

participants that were returned for insufficient funds.

34. On information and belief, as of May 7, 2008, all of Phoenix's bank

accounts were depleted or had negative balances and a total of approximately $4,514

remained in the Phoenix's trading accounts at Man, RJO and RCG.

The Defendants Misappropriated Pool Participant Funds

35. During the relevant time, the Defendants misappropriated milions of

dollars of pool paricipant fuds by, among other things, paying themselves

compensation based on the purorted profits of the pooL.

36. The Defendants were able to issue monthly interest checks to some pool

participants during the relevant time because the Defendants were repaying "earlier" pool

paricipants with "new" pool paricipant funds, in a Ponzi-like manner.

37. The Defendants spent the misappropriated funds on purchases of

expensive real estate and luxury automobiles, and in other ways to support a lavish

lifestyle.

Meisner's Letters to Pool Participants

38. On April 21, 2008, Meisner sent some or all of the pool participants a

letter stating, among other things, that "(I)t is with great regret that I must inform you that

10



Case 9:08-cv-81044-KLR Document 1 Entered on FLSD Docket 09/23/2008 Page 11 of 25

due to an unanticipated cash flow situation, Phoenix wil be ceasing its regular day to day

business activities."

39. On April 22, 2008, Meisner wrote a second letter to pool paricipants

admitting, among other things, that Phoenix was out of cash and that there was no money

available in any trading account because it was used to pay distributions and support

Meisner's lifestyle, among other things. Meisner also admitted that he falsely structured

pool paricipants' agreements as loans to Phoenix in an effort to avoid scrutiny and

registration requirements of the Commission and securities regulators.

VI. VIOLATIONS OF THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT

COUNT ONE
VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 4b(a)(2)(i) and (ii) OF THE ACT:
FRAUD BY MISAPPROPRIATION OF PARTICIPANT FUNDS,

MISREPRESENTATIONS AND MATERIAL OMISSIONS

40. The allegations set out in paragraphs 1 through 39 are re-alleged and

incorporated herein by reference.

41. From approximately 2004 through April 2008, Defendants violated

Sections 4b(a)(2)(i) and (iii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(i) and (iii), in that they cheated

or defrauded or attempted to cheat or defraud other persons; and willfully deceived or

attempted to deceive other persons by, among other things, fraudulently soliciting funds

from prospective pool participants and pool paricipants, misrepresenting the likelihood

of profits and minimizing or failing to disclose the risk of loss, and misappropriating

fuds they received from pool paricipants.

42. Defendants engaged in this conduct in or in connection with orders to

make, or the making of, contracts of sale of commodities for future delivery, made, or to

be made, for or on behalf of other persons where such contracts for future delivery were
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or may have been used for (a) hedging any transaction in interstate commerce in such

commodity, or the products or by products thereof, or (b) determining the price basis of

any transaction in interstate commerce in such commodity, or (c) delivering any such

commodity sold, shipped, or received in interstate commerce for the fulfillment thereof.

43. The actions and omissions of Meisner described in this count were done

within the scope of his offce with Phoenix. Therefore, Phoenix is also liable for

Meisner's violations of Sections 4b(a)(2)(i) and (iii) of the Act, pursuant to Section

2(a)(l)(B) of the Act, 7 U.S.c. § 2(a)(l)(B).

44. Meisner, directly or indirectly, controlled Phoenix and did not act in good

faith or knowingly induced, directly or indirectly, the acts constituting Phoenix's

violations alleged in this count. Meisner is thereby liable for Phoenix's violations of

Sections 4b(a)(2)(i) and (iii) of the Act, pursuant to Section 13(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C.

§ l3c(b).

45. Each act of misrepresentation or misappropriation of pool paricipant

funds from 2004 through April 2008, including but not limited to those specifically

alleged herein, is alleged as a separate and distinct violation of Sections 4b(a)(i) and (iii)

of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(i) and (iii).

COUNT TWO
VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 4b(a)(ii) OF THE ACT:

FRAUD BY PROVIDING FALSE STATEMENTS TO POOL PARTICIPANTS

46. The allegations set out in paragraphs 1 through 39 are re-alleged and

incorporated herein by reference.
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47. Since at least 2004 through April 2008, Defendants violated Section

4b(a)(ii) of the Act, 7 U.S.c. § 6b(a)(ii), in that they have willfully made or caused to be

made false reports or statements regarding the Phoenix pool to pool paricipants.

48. Defendants engaged in this conduct in or in connection with orders to

make, or the making of, contracts of sale of commodities for future delivery, made or to

be made, for or on behalf of other persons where such contracts for future delivery were

or may have been used for (a) hedging any transaction in interstate commerce in such

commodity, or the products or byproducts thereof, or (b) determining the price basis of

any transaction in interstate commerce in such commodity, or (c) delivering any such

commodity sold, shipped, or received in interstate commerce for the fulfillment thereof.

49. The actions and omissions of Meisner described in this count were done

within the scope of his offce with Phoenix. Therefore, Phoenix is also liable for

Meisner's violations of Section 4b(a)(2)(ii) of the Act, pursuant to Section 2(a)(l)(B) of

the Act, 7 U.S.c. § 2(a)(I)(B).

50. Meisner, directly or indirectly, controlled Phoenix and did not act in good

faith or knowingly induced, directly or indirectly, the acts constituting Phoenix's

violations alleged in this count. Meisner is thereby liable for Phoenix's violations of

Section 4b(a)(2)(ii) of the Act, pursuant to Section l3(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13c(b).

51. Each false report or statement made from 2004 through April 2008,

including but not limited to those specifically alleged herein, is alleged as a separate and

distinct violation of Section 4b(a)(ii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(ii).
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COUNT THREE
VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 4Q(l) OF THE ACT:

FRAUD BY A COMMODITY POOL OPERATOR AND AN ASSOCIATED
PERSON OF A COMMODITY POOL OPERATOR

52. The allegations set out in paragraphs 1 through 39 are re-alleged and

incorporated herein by reference.

53. Since at least 2003 through the present, Phoenix acted as a CPO in that it

engaged in a business that is of the nature of an investment trust, syndicate, or similar

form of enterprise and in connection therewith, and has solicited, accepted or received

funds, securities or property from others for the purpose of trading in any commodity for

futue delivery on or subject to the rules of any contract market or derivatives transaction

execution facility.

54. Since at least 2003 through the present, Meisner acted as an AP of

Phoenix in that he was associated with Phoenix as an officer, employee, and/or agent in a

capacity that involves (i) the solicitation of fuds, securties, or property for a

paricipation in a commodity pool and/or (ii) the supervision of any person or persons so

engaged.

55. From approximately 2004 though the present, Defendants violated

Section 40(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §6Q(l), in that they directly or indirectly employed or

are employing a device, scheme, or arifice to defraud commodity pool paricipants or

prospective commodity pool paricipants, or have engaged or are engaging in

transactions, practices or courses of business that operated as a fraud or deceit upon

commodity pool participants or prospective commodity pool paricipants by using the

mails or other means or instruentalities of interstate commerce, and by means of the

acts and practices described in paragraphs 1 though 38 above.
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56. The actions of Meisner described in this count were done within the scope

of his office with Phoenix. Therefore, Phoenix is also liable for Meisner's violations of

Section 40(1) of the Act, pursuant to Section 2(a)(1)(B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(1)(B).

57. Meisner, directly or indirectly, controlled Phoenix and did not act in good

faith or knowingly induced, directly or indirectly, the acts constituting Phoenix's

violations alleged in this count. Meisner is thereby liable for Phoenix's violations of

Section 40(1) of the Act, pursuant to Section 13(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § I3c(b).

58. Each act of engaging in a transaction, practice or a course of business that

operated as a fraud or deceit upon commodity pool paricipants or prospective

commodity pool paricipants during the relevant time, including but not limited to the

acts and practices specifically alleged herein, is alleged as a separate and distinct

violation of Section 40(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6Q(1).

COUNT FOUR
VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 4m(1) OF THE ACT:

FAILURE TO REGISTER AS A COMMODITY POOL OPERATOR .

59. The allegations set out in paragraphs 1 through 39 are re-alleged and

incorporated herein by reference.

60. Phoenix has acted as a CPO of the Pool since at least 2003, in that it

accepted and received funds from pool paricipants for the purpose of trading commodity

futues and engaged in a business that is of the nature of an investment trust, syndicate, or

similar form of enterprise and in connection therewith, and has. solicited, accepted or

received funds, securities or property from others for the purpose of trading in any

commodity for future delivery on or subject to the rules of any contract market without
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the benefit of registration as a CPO, in violation of Section 4m(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C.

§ 6m(l).

61. Meisner, directly or indirectly, controlled Phoenix and did not act in good

faith or knowingly induced, directly or indirectly, the acts constituting Phoenix's

violations alleged in this count. Meisner is thereby liable for Phoenix's violations of

Section 4m(l) of the Act, pursuant to Section 13(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § I3c(b).

62. Each use of the mails or any means or instrumentality of interstate

commerce in connection with his business as a CPO without proper registration during

the relevant time, including but not limited to those specifically alleged here, is alleged as

a separate and distinct violation of Section 4m(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6m(I).

COUNT FIVE
VIOLATIONS OF REGULATIONS 4.21 AND 4.22

FAILURE TO PROVIDE POOL DISCLOSURE DOCUMENTS AND ACCOUNT
STATEMENTS

63. The allegations set out in paragraphs 1 through 39 are re-alleged and

incorporated herein by reference.

64. Regulation 4.21, 17 C.F.R. § 4.21, requires that, prior to soliciting,

accepting or receiving fuds, a CPO must furnish the prospective pool participant with a

written "Disclosure Document" containing specific information set forth by regulation.

In addition, prior to accepting or receiving funds, a CPO is required to receive from

prospective pool paricipants an acknowledgement signed and dated by the prospective

paricipants that they received the Disclosure Document.

65. Regulation 4.22, 17 C.F.R. § 4.22, requires that a CPO, registered or

required to be registered under the Act, periodically distribute to each pool paricipant an

account statement containing the information required by regulation.
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66. As alleged above, during the relevant period, Phoenix failed to furnish

prospective pool paricipants with a written Disclosure Document and failed to receive

signed and dated acknowledgements from the prospective pool paricipants stating that

they received the Disclosure Document in violation of Regulation 4.21, 17 C.F.R. § 4.21.

67. As alleged above, during the relevant period, Phoenix failed to furish

pool paricipants with account statements containing the information required by

regulation, in violation of Regulation 4.22, 17 C.F.R. § 4.22.

68. Meisner, directly or indirectly, controlled Phoenix and did not act in good

faith or knowingly induced, directly or indirectly, the acts constituting Phoenix's

violations alleged in this count. Meisner is thereby liable for Phoenix's violations of

Regulations 4.2"1 and 4.22, 17 C.F.R. § 4.21 and 4.22 pursuant to Section 13(b) of the

Act, 7 U.S.C. § I3c(b).

69. Each failure by Phoenix to provide a pool paricipant with a Disclosure

Document and/or account statement during the relevant time, including but not limited to

those specifically alleged here, is alleged as separate and distinct violations of

Regulations 4.21 and 4.22, 17 C.F.R. § 4.21 and 4.22.

COUNT SIX

DISGORGEMENT OF POOL PARTICIPANT FUNDS FROM THE RELIEF
DEFENDANT

70. The allegations set out in paragraphs 1 through 39 are re-alleged and

incorporated herein by reference.

71. The Defendants have defrauded prospective pool paricipants and pool

participants in connection with soliciting funds for the trading of commodity futures

contracts.
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72. The Defendants have misappropriated pool paricipant funds.

73. V. Meisner has received funds that were obtained as a result of the

Defendants' fraud.

74. V. Meisner has no legitimate entitlement to, or interest in, the funds

derived or received as a result of the Defendants' fraudulent conduct.

75. V. Meisner should be required to disgorge the funds that she received

from the Defendants' fraudulent conduct, or the value of those funds that she may have

subsequently transferred to third paries.

76. By reasons of the foregoing, V. Meisner holds funds in constrctive trst

for the benefit of the Phoenix pools' paricipants who were victimized by the Defendants'

fraud.

VII. RELIEF REQUESTED

WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that this Court, as

authorized by Section 6c of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § I3a-l, and pursuant to its own equitable

powers enter:

A. An order finding Defendants each liable for violating Sections 4b(a)(i)-

(iii), 4m(1) and 4Q(I) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(i)-(iii), 6m(1) and 6Q(1) (2006), and

Regulations 4.21 and 4.22, 17 C.F.R. §§ 4.21 and 4.22 (2008).

B. An order of preliminary injunction pursuant to Section 6c(a) of the Act

restraining Defendants and all persons or entities insofar as they are acting in the capacity

of their agents, servants, employees, successors, assigns, and attorneys, and all persons

insofar as they are acting in active concert or participation with Defendants who receive

actual notice of such order by personal service or otherwise, from directly or indirectly:
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1. Destroying, mutilating, concealing, altering or disposing of any books
and records, documents, correspondence, brochures, manuals,
electronically stored data, tape records or other propert of Defendants
wherever located;

2. Refusing to permit authorized representatives of the Commission to
inspect, when and as requested, any books and records, documents,
correspondence, brochures, manuals, electronically stored data, tape
records or other property of the Defendants wherever located, including all
such records concerning Defendant's business operations;

3. Withdrawing, transferring, removing, dissipating, concealing, or
disposing of, in any manner, any funds, or other property, wherever
situated, including, but not limited to, all fuds, personal property, money
or securities held in safes, safety deposit boxes, and all funds on deposit in
any financial institution, ban, or savings and loan account held by, under
the control of, or in the name of Defendants.

C. Orders of preliminary and permanent injunction enjoining Defendants and

all persons insofar as they are acting in the capacity of their agents, servants, employees,

successors, assigns, and attorneys, and all persons insofar as they are acting in active

concert or paricipation with them who receive actual notice of such order by personal

service or otherwise, from directly or indirectly engaging in conduct in violation of

Sections 4b(a)(2)(i), (ii) and (ii), 4m(1), and 4Q(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(2)(i), (ii)

and (iii), 6m, and 6Q(1) (2006); and Regulations 4.21 and 4.22,17 C.F.R. §§4.2l and

4.22 (2008);

D. Orders of preliminar and permanent injunction enjoining Defendants and

all persons insofar as they are acting in the capacity of their agents, servants, employees,

successors, assigns, and attorneys, and all persons insofar as they are acting in active

concert or paricipation with them who receive actual notice of such order by personal

service or otherwise, from directly or indirectly

1. trading on or subject to the rules of any registered entity, at that term is
defined in Section la(29) of the Act, 7 U.S.c. § la(29);
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2. entering into any transactions involving commodity futures, options on
commodity futures, and/or commodity options, as that term is defined in
Regulation 32.1 (b)(1) ("commodity options"), for their own personal
account or for any account in which they have a direct or indirect interest

3. having any commodity futures, options on commodity futures and/or
commodity options traded on their behalf;

4. controllng or directing the trading for or on behalf of any other person

or entity, whether by power of attorney or otherwise, in any account
involving commodity futures, options on commodity futues, and/or
commodity options;

5. soliciting, receiving or accepting any fuds from any person for the
purpose of purchasing or sellng any commodity futures, options on
commodity futures, and/or commodity options;

6. applying for registration or claiming exemption from registration with

the Commission in any capacity, and engaging in any activity
requiring such registration or exemption from registration with the
Commission, except that the Defendants shall be permitted to engage
in activity as a commodity trading advisor, as that term is defined by
Section la(6) of the Act, 7 U.S.c. § la(6) ("CTA"), provided that they

do not engage in any of the activities proscribed by Regulation
4.l4(a)(9), 17 C.F.R. § 4.l4(a)(9);

7. acting as a principal, agent or any other officer or employee of any
person registered, exempted from registration or required to be
registered with the Commission, except that the Defendants shall be
permitted to act as a principal, agent or any other officer or employee
of any CT A that does not engage in any of the activities proscribed' by
Regulation 4. l4(a)(9), 17 C.F.R. § 4. 14(a)(9); and

8. any business activity related to trading commodity futues, options on
commodity futues, and/or commodity options.

E. An order directing that Defendants make an accounting to the Court of all

of Defendants' assets and liabilities, together with all funds Defendants received from

and paid to pool participants and other persons in connection with commodity futures and

options transactions or purported commodity futures and options transactions, including

the names, mailng addresses, email addresses and telephone numbers of any such

persons from whom they received such funds from September 2004 to the date of such

accounting, and all disbursements for any purpose whatsoever of funds received from
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pool paricipants, including salaries, commissions, fees, loans and other disbursements of

money and property of any kind, from May 2003 to and including the date of such

accounting;

F. An order requiring Defendants immediately to identify and provide an

accounting for all assets and property that they currently maintain outside the United

States, including, but not limited to, all funds on deposit in any financial institution,

futures commission merchant, ban, or savings and loan accounts held by, under the

control of, or in the name of Michael Meisner, V. Meisner, Phoenix Diversified

Investment Corporation, whether held jointly or otherwise, and requiring them to

repatriate all fuds held in such accounts by paying them to the Clerk of the Court, or as

otherwise ordered by the Court, for further disposition in this case.

G. An order requiring Defendants to disgorge to any offcer appointed or

directed by the Cour all benefits received including, but not limited to, salaries,

commissions, loans, fees, revenues and trading profits derived, directly or indirectly,

from acts or practices that constitute violations of the Act and Regulations as described

herein, including pre-judgment interest;

H. An order requiring V. Meisner, and any third par transferee, to disgorge

pursuant to such procedure as the Court may order, all fuds or other benefits from funds

received directly or indirectly, from acts or practices that constitute violations of the Act

and Regulations as described herein, including pre-judgment interest;

i. An order requiring Defendants to make restitution by making whole each

and every pool paricipant or other person whose funds were received or utilized by them
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in violation of the provisions of the Act and Regulations as described herein, including

pre-judgment interest;

J. An order requiring Defendants to pay civil monetar penalties under the

Act, to be assessed by the Cour, in amounts of not more than the higher of: (1) triple the

monetar gain to Defendants for each violation of the Act and/or Regulations; or (2) a

penalty of$120,000 for each such violation committed prior to October 23,2004 or

$130,000 for each such violation committed on or after October 23, 2004;

K. An order requiring Defendants to pay costs and fees as permitted by

28 U.S.C. §§ 1920 and 2412(a)(2) (1994); and

L. An Order providing such other and further relief as this Court may deem

necessary and appropriate under the circumstaces.

Date: September 23, 2008 Respectfully submitted,4!l~
AvaM. Gould
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Senior Trial Attorney
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Senior Trial Attorney
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